IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
CASE NO.: SC00-331
SHEPPARD AND WHITE, P.A.
Petitioner,
vs.
CITY OF JACKSONVILLE,
Respondent.
On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District
PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Wm. J. Sheppard, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 109154 D. Gray Thomas, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 956041 Sheppard, White and Thomas, P.A. 215 Washington Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 Telephone: (904) 356-9661 Facsimile: (904) 356-9667

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC00-331

SHEPPARD AND WHITE, P.A.

Petitioner,

VS.

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE,

Respondent.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Sheppard & White, P.A., will be referred to herein by name, or as "Petitioner". Respondent, The City of Jacksonville, will be referred to herein by name, or as "Respondent". References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by reference to the relevant volume and page, set forth in brackets. Example, [R.I, 1].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On discretionary review, the petitioner challenges the holding of the First District Court of Appeal that it could not upset a \$50.00 hourly rate established by administrative order for compensation of court-appointed counsel in a successful capital appeal requiring almost 550 hours of attorney time. The petitioner asserts that such hourly rate is so unreasonably low as to be unconstitutionally confiscatory and a threat to the right of indigent capital defendants to receive constitutionally effective assistance of counsel.

In 1994, Gerald D. Murray was convicted of first degree murder, burglary with an assault, and sexual battery, and he was sentenced to death. [R.I,1,8]. Wm. J. Sheppard, Esquire, of Sheppard and White, P.A., and Professor Fletcher N. Baldwin of the University of Florida College of Law were appointed by the Circuit Court, Fourth Judicial Circuit, Duval County, Florida, to represent Mr. Murray on direct appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida due to the sentence of death and Mr. Murray's insolvency. [R1, 1]. Undersigned counsel raised, briefed and argued 23 claims of error on appeal. Those claims are as follows:

- (1) The trial court abused its discretion in permitting the state to peremptorily challenge three jurors;
- (2) The trial court abused its discretion in denying Murray's motion to suppress hair evidence seized pursuant to an allegedly defective search warrant.

- (3) The trial court abused its discretion in allowing the state's expert to testify about the results of DNA typing because the state's method of DNA typing and probability calculations did not meet the *Frye* test for admissibility;
- (4) The trial court abused its discretion in admitting hair evidence where the testimony of the state's witnesses at trial revealed evidence of probable tampering;
- (5) The trial court abused its discretion in denying Murray's motions for continuance of the trial and penalty phase;
- (6) The trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of Murray's pre-trial escape, theft of automobiles and possession of false identification.
- (7) The trial court abused its discretion in excluding the testimony of three defense witnesses concerning Murray's true motive for escape;
- (8) The prosecutor's comments during the guilt phase closing argument deprived Murray of a fair trial;
 - (9) The evidence at trial was insufficient to support Murray's convictions;
- (10) The trial court erred in finding the especially heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor;
- (11) The trial court abused its discretion in overruling Murray's objection to the standard heinous, atrocious, or cruel instruction and denying Murray's requested instruction on that aggravator;

- (12) The trial court abused its discretion in rejecting Murray's statutory and nonstatutory mitigating factors;
- (13) The trial court improperly doubled the felony murder and pecuniary gain aggravating factors;
- (14) The trial court erred in finding that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain;
- (15) The trial court abused its discretion in admitting hearsay evidence concerning Murray's prior violent felonies at the penalty phase;
- (16) The prosecutor's comments during the penalty phase closing argument deprived Murray of a fair trial;
- (17) Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes (1995), which allows presentation of victim impact evidence in a capital sentencing proceeding unconstitutional;
- (18) The trial court's use of Murray's contemporaneous convictions for burglary and sexual battery to support the felony murder aggravating factor violated Murray's right against double jeopardy;
- (19) The trial court improperly instructed the jury regarding its role in the sentencing process;
 - (20) The record does not support the death penalty;

- (21) Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional because electrocution constitutes cruel and unusual punishment;
 - (22) Murray death sentence is disproportionate; and finally,
- (23) The trial court erred in enhancing Murray's sentence for burglary and imposing it to run consecutively to his sentence of death. [R.1, 2-4].

This Court unanimously reversed the convictions and sentence of death and remanded the case for a new trial on the basis of erroneous admission of DNA opinion testimony. [R.I, 1, 8]; *see Murray v. State*, 692 So.2d 157 (Fla. 1997).

Thereafter, appellate counsel filed a Motion for Payment of Appellate Attorney's Fees and Costs on July 15, 1997. A hearing was held on the motion on November 24, 1998. [R.V, 589]. On December 17, 1998, the trial court issued its Final Order for Motion for Payment of Appellate Attorney's Fees and Costs, awarding \$29,864.05 in legal fees and costs for the appellate representation of Mr. Murray, based on an hourly rate of \$40.00 fixed by administrative order of the chief circuit judge. [R.IV, 577]. Petitioner¹ had requested \$95,807.11 in the motion [R.I, 6]. At

¹ The District Court of Appeal changed the style of this case to that reflected in this brief, although the hourly rate applied below and challenged herein includes that for time incurred by appellate co-counsel, Professor Baldwin. The term "petitioner" as used herein describes Mr. Murray's appellate counsel collectively, including Professor Baldwin.

the hearing on the motion, the parties stipulated to the amount of costs to be awarded totaling \$3,854.05. [R.IV, 578].

At the hearing, petitioner submitted numerous affidavits from members of the criminal bar in the Fourth Judicial Circuit asserting that the current hourly rate fixed by the Chief Judge is inadequate. [R. II, 158]. Petitioner likewise submitted affidavits from two board certified criminal appellate attorneys, both of whom have practiced over 17 years, stating that the fees requested by Petitioner were reasonable. [R. I, 69-74; V, 600]. Talbot D'Alemberte, Esquire, President of Florida State University, testified by affidavit that a reasonable attorney's fee and costs award in the appeal of Defendant Gerald Murray should exceed \$100,000. [R. II, 79-82; V, 600]. Additional evidence that the \$40.00 fixed hourly rate was confiscatory was presented at the November 24, 1998 hearing on the Motion for Payment of Appellate Attorney's Fees and Costs. [R. V, 589]. The rate was the lowest in Florida. [R.I, 87, 89].

Further, Wm. J. Sheppard, Esquire, the senior partner of the law firm of Sheppard & White, P.A., testified at the hearing that the \$40.00 fixed hourly rate is "wholly inadequate." [R. V, 603]. Mr. Sheppard went on to explain the financial difficulty a firm encounters with a complex capital appeal:

Now, the economic impact of one of these cases on a law firm is overwhelming and I testify it drains. We are

a busy law firm. We never have a spare moment where we sit without paying work to do. We turn work away and did during this time period.

* * *

This representation went over a period of two years. I would testify that it is the reputation in Jacksonville, Florida among the criminal defense bar that you don't want to do death penalty representation by court-appointed appointments because the compensation is inadequate and it drains on your firm timewise, and economically it is too great to undertake that responsibility.

[R. V, 605-606]. The evidence presented by petitioner is uncontroverted in the record.

The trial court found that the actual work by court appointed counsel was 545 hours and found all 545 hours, to be compensable. [R.IV, 578]. The lower court compensated those hours at the hourly rate of \$40.00, which was then the maximum rate set by the Chief Judge of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, pursuant to Administrative Order 86-33, as amended. [R.IV, 578]. The lower court also awarded time spent by "paralegals/clerks" under the supervision of Murray's appellate counsel in compliance with Section 57.104, Fla.Stat., at a rate of \$40.00 per hour. [R.IV, 578].

² During the pendency of proceedings in the First District Court of Appeal, the rate was increased by administrative order to \$50.00 per hour, and, pursuant to direction from the First District, the trial court ordered compensation for the difference during a temporary relinquishment of this Court's jurisdiction.

After the timely filing of petitioner's notice of appeal, [R. IV, 580], the First District treated the matter as a petition for certiorari. The court below subsequently granted the petition, quashed the trial court's order in part regarding the intervening change in the hourly rate, denied the bulk of relief sought and certified the critical issue as one of great public importance. *Sheppard and White, P.A. v. City of Jacksonville,* 751 So.2d 731, 736 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). The First District found itself "constrained to deny the constitutional arguments raised by petitioner" but agreed that "the hourly rate set by administrative order is problematic given the extraordinary and unusual circumstances of this capital case." *Id.* at 736. Noting that this Court has yet to address the issue, but held \$26.12 per hour "far from reasonable' in 1989," the First District certified as a question of great public importance:

IS THE FIXED RATE OF \$50.00 PER HOUR FOR APPELLATE ATTORNEY'S FEE CONFISCATORY WHEN APPLIED IN A CAPITAL CASE REQUIRING 550 HOURS OF ATTORNEY'S TIME?

Id. Petitioner timely filed a notice and amended notice to invoke discretionary review. The Court having postponed its decision on jurisdiction and established a briefing schedule, this brief follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Compensation at the rate of \$50.00 per hour in attorney's fees for successful capital appellate representation by court-appointed counsel is unconstitutionally confiscatory of the time, energy and talents of attorneys, and also impinges on the right of indigent capital defendants to the effective assistance of counsel, in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The First District Court of Appeal erred in concluding that an hourly rate established by administrative order

of a chief circuit judge is not subject to the same legal considerations on review as statutory caps on fees for appointed counsel set by the legislature. Hourly rates established by administrative order, entered *ex parte* and without opportunity for effective review, fail to establish reasonable local prevailing rates because such hourly rates lack any relationship to prevailing rates for any form of legal representation, much less representation where a human life hangs in the balance. Capital cases by their very nature involve extraordinary circumstances warranting application of the same principles invoked by this Court in concluding that legislatively-established attorney's fee caps are not binding. Accordingly, the question certified by the First District should be answered in the affirmative, and the judgment of the First District reversed.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE FIXED HOURLY RATE OF \$50.00 PER HOUR FOR APPELLATE ATTORNEY'S FEE IS CONFISCATORY WHEN APPLIED IN A CAPITAL CASE REQUIRING 550 HOURS OF ATTORNEY'S TIME.

The question certified by the First District should be answered in the affirmative because the fixed rate of \$50.00 per hour for the services of appointed capital appellate counsel is confiscatory and infringes the constitutional right of capital defendants to effective counsel.

The Court of Appeal mistakenly concluded that it lacked the legal authority to reject an hourly rate for compensation of court-appointed capital appellate counsel established by Administrative Order of a chief circuit judge, while a cap on total compensation established by the Legislature could lawfully be exceeded. The court below, however, appropriately recognized that an hourly rate as low as that involved in this case "does seem to approach a confiscatory rate in a capital case, as here, requiring nearly 550 hours of an attorney's time." *Sheppard and White, P.A. v. City of Jacksonville,* 751 So.2d 731, 736 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). No principled reason exists to treat a judicially established hourly rate in a manner different from a legislatively-established cap on fees for court-appointed counsel in capital cases.

While being troubled with its result, the court below erred in relying upon what it found to be an appearance that this Court has assumed that fees set in accordance with a judicial administrative order's establishment of an hourly rate constitutes a determination of a reasonable local prevailing rate. *Id.* at 735, *citing, White v. Board of County Commissioners of Pinellas County*, 537 So.2d 1376, 1379 (Fla. 1989). The

Court of Appeal reads more into *White* than was litigated and decided in that case, or, if not, the Court should recede from any portion of *White* that justifies treating judicially-established hourly rates differently than legislatively-established fee caps for court-appointed counsel in the circumstances of this case. This is particularly so where administrative orders setting such rates are entered *ex parte*, without record proceedings involving affected parties, and are not readily subject to appellate review. Accordingly, the opinion and judgment of the First District in this case should be reversed in this regard.

In a manner similar to the First District, the Second District strongly criticized an hourly rate established by administrative order while finding "itself in the unenviable position of being required to quash an order that purports to right that wrong" of grossly inadequate rates. *Charlotte County v. Shirley*, 750 So.2d 706, 707 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2000). The court in *Shirley* found that it had no authority to upset an administrative order but concluded that this Court has such authority. *Id.* at 708. The Second District flatly found a \$50.00 hourly rate to constitute "inadequate compensation," particularly "in capital cases where a person's life is on the line" and where "reasonable" rates in civil and other matters are routinely far more than double that rate. *Id.* at 708. The court in *Shirley* certified essentially the same question as did the court below. *Id.*

The Court in *Makemson v. Martin County*, 491 So.2d 1109, 1112 (Fla. 1986) found the statutory maximum fee of Fla. Stat. §925.036 unconstitutional when applied in a manner which curtailed the court's inherent power to ensure adequate representation of the criminally accused and likewise interfered with the accused's right to effective representation by counsel. In reaching its holding, the Court remained mindful

of the fact that it is the defendant's right to effective representation rather than the attorney's right to fair compensation which is our focus. We find the two inextricably interlinked.

Id. Accordingly, the Court declared that token compensation is no longer to be an alternative, but rather a <u>reasonable fee</u> must be awarded. *Id.* at 1113 (emphasis added); *see Leon County v. McClure*, 541 So.2d 630 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) ("Rather, as *Makemson* emphasized, the court should award a reasonable fee which is not confiscatory of the attorney's time, energy and talents.").

Agreeing with a dissent in a Second District case, the Court reiterated the same holding in *White v. Board of County Commissioners of Pinellas County*, 537 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1989), that a court may exercise its inherent power to depart from the statutory maximum fee

when legislatively-fixed attorney's fees become so out of line with reality that they materially impair the abilities of officers of the courts to fulfill their roles of defending the indigent and curtail the inherent powers of the courts to appoint attorneys to those roles.

Id. at 1378, *quoting, White v. Board of County Commissioners*, 524 So.2d 428, 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) (Lehan, J., dissenting). Again, the Court emphasized that the defendant's right to competent and effective representation, not the attorney's right to compensation, gave rise to the necessity of exceeding the statutory maximum fee. However, as the Court further noted:

The relationship between an attorney's compensation and the quality of his or her representation cannot be ignored. It may be difficult for an attorney to disregard that he or she may not be reasonably compensated for the legal services provided due to the statutory fee limit. As a result, there is a risk that the attorney may spend fewer hours than required representing the defendant or may prematurely accept a negotiated plea that is not in the best interests of the defendant. A specter is then raised that the defendant received less than the adequate, effective representation to which he or she is entitled, the very injustice appointed counsel was intended to remedy.

Id. at 1380. Significantly, the Court also found that virtually every capital case involves extraordinary circumstances and unusual representation. *Id.*

Indeed, the American Bar Association has published its <u>Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases</u> (1989). As part of

its guideline, the American Bar Association approved the following guidelines for compensation:

- A. Capital counsel should be compensated for actual time and service performed. The objective should be to provide a reasonable rate of hourly compensation which is commensurate with the provision of effective assistance of counsel and which reflects the extraordinary responsibilities inherent in death penalty litigation.
- B. Capital counsel should also be fully reimbursed for reasonable incidental expenses.
- C. Periodic billing and payment during the course of counsel's representation should be provided for in the representation plan.

Commentary:

This guideline is rooted in the constitutional obligation of government to provide effective representation for poor people charged with crimes. In order to fulfill that obligation, government is required to adequately compensate court-appointed counsel for the representation they provide. As the Florida Supreme Court has noted, the defendant's right to effective representation is "inextricably interlinked" with the attorney's right to fair compensation.

Low fees make it economically unattractive for competent attorneys to seek assignments and to expend the time and effort a case may require. As of 1985, Virginia was paying defense lawyers in capital cases an average of \$687.00 per case -- an amount representing an hourly wage of \$1.00 in

some cases. Such token compensation is plainly insufficient to cover even overhead expenses of an attorney assigned to a capital case, much less to adequately reimburse the attorney for his or her time and skill. Florida's compensation scheme (permitting a maximum payment of \$3,500.00 per case as of 1985), while somewhat higher than Virginia's, must still be described as inadequate since there have been instances where the effective rate counsel received was close to the Federal minimum wage. These are but two examples of drastic underfunding of capital representation.

In such situations, the temptation is too great for a lawyer to shortchange the client because he or she is not adequately being compensated for his or her time. For example, a study conducted by the National Legal Aid & Defender Association documents that in 1985, 36% of the assigned counsel in Massachusetts who responded to a survey on the issue admitted they omitted some appropriate defense activity because of inadequate compensation. Specific types of activities omitted included: interviewing the client; a full investigation of the facts; interviewing witnesses or the police; filing pretrial motions; and adequate research of the law. Omissions of such critical activities, shocking in any case, would be unconscionable in cases involving defendants who face the prospect of death. For this reason alone, counsel in capital cases ought to receive adequate reimbursement for their services.

Unreasonably low fees not only deny the defendant the right to effective representation, however. They also place an unfair burden on skilled criminal defense lawyers, especially those skilled in the highly specialized capital area. These attorneys are forced to work for next to nothing after assuming the responsibility of representing someone who faces a possible sentence of death. Failure to provide appropriate compensation discourages experienced criminal

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