**IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

CASE NO.: SC00-331

SHEPPARD AND WHITE, P.A.,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE,

Respondent.

**On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal
of Florida, First District**

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

**RICHARD A. MULLANEY
GENERAL COUNSEL**

**HOWARD M. MALTZ
ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL**
Florida Bar No.: 593109
Office of General Counsel
117 West Duval Street, Suite 480
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
(904) 630-1854
Attorney for Respondent

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not depart from the essential requirements of law and the First District Court of Appeal did not err in affirming the trial court's award of court-appointed attorney's fees based upon the hourly rate established by the Administrative Order of the Chief Judge of the Fourth Judicial Circuit enacted pursuant to §925.036(1), Fla. Stat. (1997). The Petitioner accepted the court-appointment with full knowledge of the hourly rate of compensation established by the Chief Judge; therefore, the Petitioner is estopped from challenging the constitutionality of the hourly rate, and this Court need not address the constitutional issues raised by the Petitioner. Even if this Court were to address the constitutional issues, the orders of the trial court and District Court must be affirmed. The legislature has entrusted the chief judge of each judicial circuit with the responsibility of setting an hourly rate of compensation for court-appointed counsel which assures that the indigent criminally accused obtain effective assistance of counsel while taking into consideration the expenditure of public funds. This Court's previous rulings which declared the caps or ceilings on court-appointed attorney's fees enumerated in §925.036(2), Fla. Stat. (1997) unconstitutional when applied in extraordinary and unusual cases, are inapplicable to the hourly rates established by the chief judges pursuant to §925.036(1), Fla. Stat. (1997). The record below contains competent substantial

evidence to support the trial court's order and establishes that the fixed hourly rate of the Fourth Judicial Circuit does not deny the indigent criminally accused of effective assistance of counsel and is not confiscatory of an attorney's time. The trial court and First District Court of Appeal should be affirmed and the certified question answered negatively.

ARGUMENT

I. BY ACCEPTING THE COURT-APPOINTED REPRESENTATION WITH FULL KNOWLEDGE OF THE HOURLY RATE ESTABLISHED BY THE CHIEF JUDGE OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, PETITIONER IS ESTOPPED FROM CHALLENGING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE HOURLY RATE.

The trial court did not depart from the essential requirements of law when it properly awarded the Petitioner attorney's fees based on the hourly rate established by the Administrative Order of the Chief Judge. The First District Court of Appeal properly affirmed the trial court's award of attorney's fees based on the rate established by the Administrative Order. See Sheppard & White, P.A. v. City of Jacksonville, 751 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

By accepting representation of Mr. Murray with full knowledge of the hourly rate for court-appointed representation of the indigent criminally accused, established by the Administrative Order of the Chief Judge of Fourth Judicial Circuit, the Petitioner is now estopped from challenging constitutionality of the hourly rate. The trial court and the First District Court of Appeal both noted that the Petitioner was not required to accept the court appointment in this case and that when it accepted the representation it knew going in that it would be reimbursed at the rate established by the Chief Judge's administrative order. [R.V., 603, 623]; Sheppard, 751 So.2d at 733. Petitioner, or any other attorney in the Fourth Judicial Circuit, could have challenged

the administrative order at issue, prior to accepting court appointments but that was never done. See 1-888-Traffic Schools v. Chief Circuit Judge, Fourth Judicial Circuit, 734 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1999) (administrative orders of the Chief Judge of a judicial circuit may be challenged by common law writ). Furthermore, there is nothing in the record to indicate that the Petitioner attempted to negotiate or obtain an hourly rate greater than that fixed by the administrative order at the time the trial court entered its order appointing Petitioner. By accepting the court appointment with full knowledge of the fixed rate, Petitioner entered into an agreement with the Respondent to provide legal services to Mr. Murray at that fixed hourly rate. Now Petitioner seeks to set aside the terms of its agreement, by seeking reimbursement at an hourly rate three and one-half times that to which it agreed. However, by accepting the court appointment, Petitioner is now estopped from challenging the constitutionality of the rate established by the Administrative Order of the Chief Judge.

It is well established that an oral attorney's fee agreement is enforceable, and that the general principle of contract, that competent persons have liberty of contracting and when the agreements are shown to be voluntarily and freely made and entered into, courts will uphold and enforce them, is applicable to attorney's fees agreements. See In re Estate of McQueen v. First Guaranty Bank and Trust Co., 699 So.2d 747 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); Lugassy v. Independent Fire Insurance Co., 636

So.2d 1332 (Fla. 1994). By accepting representation on a case with a known fee schedule, “an attorney necessarily agrees that the fee is customary and reasonable as to all persons included...” Sotolongo v. Brake, 616 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1992). By entering into an enforceable contract for representation, Petitioner is now estopped from challenging the constitutionality of the rate of compensation.

This Court has consistently held that when a party enters into an agreement, with full knowledge of its terms, that party may not later come back and challenge legislation which created some of the terms of the agreement. This was illustrated in Billings v. City of Orlando, 287 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1973), where a police officer challenged the constitutionality of a special act which provided that a police officer may only receive a 50% refund of his pension contributions if he left the city’s employment prior to vesting in the pension plan. This Court concluded that the police officer was estopped from challenging the constitutionality of the special act, since he was aware of this provision when he accepted employment with the city, and if he was unsatisfied with this provision, he did not have to accept the employment.

Likewise, in Steigerwalt v. City of St. Petersburg, 316 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1975), a police officer challenged the constitutionality of legislation that resulted in the forfeiture of his pension due to the nature of his discharge from employment. This Court again stated that by accepting employment with the city with full knowledge of

this condition, the police officer was estopped from challenging the constitutionality of the legislation. See also, Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Co. v. McKelvey, 259 So.2d 777 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972).

Petitioner did not have to accept the court appointment at issue in this case. Likewise, Petitioner could have challenged the constitutionality of the Administrative Order prior to accepting the appointment through use of a common law writ. However, none of that was done here, and Petitioner accepted the appointment with full knowledge of the fixed hourly rate. Therefore, Petitioner is now estopped from challenging the constitutionality of the hourly rate established by the Chief Judge.

Since Petitioner is estopped from challenging the constitutionality of the established hourly rate, this Court need not address the certified question. This Court has consistently held, and it is a fundamental maxim of judicial restraint, that courts should not decide constitutional issues where cases can be disposed of on other grounds. State v. Mozo, 655 So.2d 1115 (Fla. 1995); Singletary v. State, 322 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1975); State ex. rel. v. Mager, 356 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1978); State v. Tsavaris, 394 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981). Since the Petitioner is estopped from challenging the constitutionality of the hourly rate of compensation, this Court may dispose of this case

without addressing the constitutionality issues raised by Petitioner and this Court should deny the relief sought by Petitioner without further consideration.

II. THE HOURLY RATE FOR COURT-APPOINTED REPRESENTATION, ESTABLISHED BY THE CHIEF JUDGE OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL AND THE CERTIFIED QUESTION SHOULD BE ANSWERED NEGATIVELY.

Even if this Court addresses the constitutional issues raised by Petitioner, the decisions of the trial court and First District must be affirmed. The fixed hourly rate of compensation established by the Chief Judge of the Fourth Judicial Circuit pursuant to Administrative Order, does not deny indigent capital criminal defendants of their right to effective assistance of counsel and is not confiscatory; therefore, the certified question should be answered negatively.

§925.036, Fla. Stat. (1997) addresses the compensation of court-appointed counsel for indigent criminal defendants. This statute provides in relevant part:

(1) An attorney appointed pursuant to s. 925.035 or s. 27.53 shall, at the conclusion of representation, be compensated at an hourly rate fixed by the chief judge or senior judge of the circuit ... (emphasis added)

At the time of Petitioner's appointment to represent Mr. Murray on direct appeal, the Second Amendment to Administrative Order 86-33 for the Fourth Judicial Circuit of Florida [R.II., 284] was in effect. This Administrative Order, enacted pursuant to §925.036(1), Fla. Stat., and Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.050(b), established the

hourly rate of compensation for appellate court-appointed counsel at \$40.00⁵. At the time that the Petitioner accepted the court-appointment to represent Mr. Murray on direct appeal, it was fully aware of the existence of the Administrative Order, and the \$40.00 hourly rate [R.V., 603, 623]. Petitioner now seeks to declare the fixed hourly rate unconstitutional, and seeks reimbursement at an hourly rate three and one-half times the rate it agreed to at the time it accepted the court-appointment. The District Court of Appeal properly held that the trial court did not depart from the essential requirements of law when it rejected the Petitioner's argument and awarded attorney's fees based on the hourly rate established by the Administrative Order of the Chief Judge of the Fourth Judicial Circuit.

Every District Court of Appeal in this state has held that in determining the amount of attorney's fees to be awarded to court-appointed counsel, a trial court is bound to calculate the fee based upon the hourly rate established by the administrative order of the chief judge of the judicial circuit, and to exceed the established hourly rate constitutes a departure from the essential requirements of law. See Escambia County v. Ratchford, 650 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); Bd. of County Commissioners of Hillsborough County v. Cunningham, 529 So.2d 724 (Fla. 2d DCA

⁵ During the pendency of this matter before the District Court of Appeal, the Chief Judge of the Fourth Judicial Circuit amended Administrative Order 86-33 to increase the hourly rate of court-appointed appellate counsel to \$50.00.

1988); Metropolitan Dade County v. Gold, 509 So.2d 407 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); Palm Beach County v. Butler, 524 So.2d 507 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Volusia County v. Vedder, 717 So.2d 206 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

The issues raised by the Petitioner and the certified question are not novel. This court has repeatedly denied review of District Courts of Appeal opinions which held that the trial court is bound to award court-appointed attorney's fees based on the fixed hourly rate established by administrative order where court-appointed counsel made the same arguments presented in the instant case. See Hillsborough County v. Unterberger, 534 So.2d 838 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) rev. denied 544 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1989); Hillsborough County v. Lopez, 518 So.2d 372 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) rev. denied 529 So.2d 694 (Fla. 1988); Hillsborough County v. Marchese, 519 So.2d 728 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) cause dismissed 526 So.2d 75 (Fla. 1988); Bobbitt v. State, 726 So.2d 848 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) rev. denied 733 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1999).

A trial court is bound to award court-appointed counsel fees at the rate established by the chief judge of the judicial circuit because the legislature has entrusted the chief judge of each circuit with the responsibility of being cognizant of the local rates for attorney's fees in order to assure effective assistance of counsel for indigent criminal defendants, while also taking into consideration the expenditure of public funds. The District Court of Appeal considered this in the instant case when

it stated:

“[t]he importance of the administrative order setting the hourly rate cannot be ignored, because the chief judge, in setting the hourly rate is charged with being advised of the community rates for similar representation and the ability of the county budget to accommodate the expenditure of public funds for representation.”
(citation omitted)

Sheppard, 751 So.2d at 735.

As this Court stated in White v. Bd. of County Commissioners of Pinellas County, 537 So.2d 1376 (Fla. 1988), the intent of the legislature with regards to the appropriations of funds for public purposes must be upheld unless it is shown it curtails the court’s ability to secure effective assistance of counsel for indigent defendants. In the instant case, competent substantial record evidence exists to show that the fixed hourly rate of the Fourth Judicial Circuit does not curtail the judiciary’s ability to secure effective assistance of counsel for indigent defendants.

As noted by the First District Court of Appeal, the Petitioner’s reliance on Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1986) and White, supra, is misplaced and these cases do not support its position. Sheppard, 751 So.2d at 733. In Makemson, this Court held that the caps or ceiling on court-appointed counsel’s fees enumerated in §925.036(2), Fla. Stat. could be exceeded in cases involving extraordinary circumstances and unusual representations. This Court did not declare that the hourly rates, which §925.036(1), Fla. Stat. establishes shall be set by the chief

judge of the judicial circuit, are unconstitutional or subject to exception.

In Makemson, court-appointed counsel represented an individual charged with first degree murder, kidnaping and armed robbery. The representation spanned nine months and the case was tried in a different county based on a venue change. Court-appointed counsel sought compensation for 248.3 hours of service, calculated using the rate established by the chief judge of the circuit totaling \$9,500.00, despite expert testimony establishing the value of his services at a minimum of \$25,000.00. This Court declared the \$3,5000.00 ceiling on the fee unconstitutional as applied. This Court did not state that the hourly rate established by the chief judge was unconstitutional or that court-appointed counsel should be compensated in the amount that the expert witness said was the minimum value of his services.

This Court declared the cap or ceiling on fees unconstitutional as applied because:

“[s]tatutory maximum fees, as inflexibly imposed in cases involving unusual or extraordinary circumstances, interfere with the defendant’s sixth amendment right to have the assistance of counsel for his defense.

* * * *

Although facially valid, we find the statute unconstitutional when applied in such a manner as to curtail the court’s inherent power to ensure the adequate representation of the criminally accused.”

Makemson, 491 So.2d at 1112. This Court went on to state:

“[w]e must not lose sight of the fact that it is the defendant’s right to effective representation rather than the attorney’s right to fair compensation which is our focus.”

Id.

Not only is Makemson inapplicable to this case since it applies to the ceiling on fees, rather than the hourly rate, but the record in the instant case contains competent substantial evidence that the hourly rate, which takes into account unique and complex cases by reimbursing counsel for actual time spent on the case, does not deny indigent defendants in the Fourth Judicial Circuit of their right to effective assistance of counsel.

In White, supra, counsel was court-appointed to represent an indigent defendant in a first degree murder case. Court-appointed counsel sought reimbursement based on the hourly rate set by the chief judge of the circuit pursuant to §925.036(1), Fla. Stat. This Court reaffirmed its position in Makemson, that the statutory caps on attorney’s fees in §925.036(2) were unconstitutional when applied in such a manner as to curtail the court’s inherent power to ensure the adequate representation of the criminally accused and may be exceeded in cases involving extraordinary circumstances and unusual representations. This Court went on to state that “all capital cases due to their very nature, can be considered extraordinary and unusual and arguably justify an award of attorney’s fees in excess of the current statutory

maximum fee cap.” White, 537 So.2d at 1378.

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